
 
 
 

Standards Committee 
 

Date: Tuesday, 30 June 2009 
Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Brian Ellis 
Tel: 0151 691 8471 
e-mail: brianellis@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 

AGENDA 
 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have personal or 

prejudicial interests in connection with any item(s) on this agenda and, 
if so, to declare them and state what they are. 
 

2. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 30 March, which were 

received by the Council. 
 

3. ETHICAL GOVERNANCE 2008/09 (Pages 9 - 32) 
 
4. GOVERNANCE OF PARTNERSHIPS (Pages 33 - 50) 
 
5. OMBUDSMAN REPORT-REPORT NO 07/C/03447 (Pages 51 - 56) 
 
6. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



�����������	

������
�



��������
����������
�

��������� ���������������	�� 
�����
���������
������

�
� 
����������� 
�
��������

����������
��������
� �	�!�������
�


�	��"���
!� �#���"��

�$������
�����������
�

��%����� 
���������� ��
��"����
�

&�"�%��"����
	��'����

���������������	�� ���(�)�������
�

��
�

&�������"������ 
���������� ��*�����
�

��
�

�%��������� ���������������	�� �������������
�

��

�
�

+,� ���������	���	������������
�
$������'�����-�����
���������#��������"���������"���#��������������"���%��������
���%��.�"�����������������������������#������������������������"����"/��-���/����"�������
�����"����������������������-��������������0��)��"������������#������"�0�
�

+1� 
��������
�
���
����� ����!�!���"#�$!���
%� !���&���#
$��"��!#�'(������
���)�*��$���(�+��
�&&�
����������
����!����
��,�
�

+2� ��-�����.	/�����������01���2���������3	��������	

������
�
3������� ��� 	������ 44� �5654678�/� !�9� $��%��:	�����/� ���� ��"��� 	������/� ��"� ����
���������/�����"�
��#�/�%�������"�������"��-����%����-����#���������� ����#��-�;�������
*���������� #������ ���� ���������0� � <��� ������� ���� 
��������=�� ���������� ��� ����
��%���� ��"� ����"� ����� ���� ��������"� ����"������ ��� �""������� ��� ���� %��%���"�
������������'����'�����"��������'����������"�#��������%���0�
�
$���������������������-�������%����#�����
�
���� ����� ���� 
������� ��"� �� ���"� ��"������"���� �-� ���� ���� ;������� *����������
������� ����� ��� -���"���"� ��������������"�"� ���%���������"���������� ��������"��"�0��
���������-�������������"�"�:�
�

•� ����	��'���=�
�"�� �-�
��"����#��� ���������� �%�������� �--��������� ��"� ����
'����������-����'������"��--������#�����������%%��%�����>�

•� ���'������"��--������#����"�#����������������������������
������=���������
�����>�

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 2

Page 1



•� ���� 
������� ��"� �� ���"� �%%������ ��� %��������� �?������� ��"� "��������� ��� ����
%����������"���������>�

•� '���� ����!��"�����"�
���-�;(��������#���� �����"���"� ���'�� �������"���� ���
%�������������;�����������"�>���"�

•� ����
�������#��������������������%������������������"����"����'�����'����
��"� �--������ ��"� ��� ��%����� �����%������� ��� ���� #��� ����� ��� ������"� ���� ����
'�������0�

�
����� ����/���������������������-��"�����#���������������/���"��������������������
%�������� ����� �������/� ����� %��%�����"� ������� #����� -������� #���� ��"� �������� #���
���"�"0��&��%���������/�����-��"�������������"��������������'������"��--����������"�
'�����%�"����"�����%���'��������"������"�����-�;�������*���������/�#�����#���"�'��
���%�"�'�������������������������'����������������-����#���0�
�
������ ������#����������������-���"�����%����������"����@�
� �

•� �������� ���� %��-���� �-� ���� 
������=�� <���"��"�� 
��������� �������� %��:�������
#������"����������������������'�����-�����
�����������"���������������������
��-��������������������������-����������--��������>�

•� �����#���� ���� ������ �-� ��������� -��� ���'���� ��"� �--������ ��� ���� ;�������
����"�>�

•� ����������� �������� ���#��������'������"��--������ ����"�������������������-�
������"����'�������'�������--�����#�������-�����-���%��������"�'�����-�"�������
���� ������� ����� ����� �����"� ����>� �������������'��� ��������"������� ��"�

������� "��������� ��� ��%����� �%������� ��"� �����%������>� ��"� '�� ������"�
��������%%��%������'���������#���"�'�������'���"�����#���>�

•� �����-��������������-�
�����������������-���%�����������"����:%���������%��%����>�

•� ����������������"����-�"��������!�����*������������"�"��������>���"�

•� ����������� �#�������� �-� ���� �������:'��#���� ������� ��"� ����-�������
������������������%����������������������������������"�'��"����#�������-����
�-���%�����0�

�
$������'�����-�����
���������"�������"�������%������"/�#�����������������������������
���"�����#������ ��/��(%�����"��������#���������� �����������-����������������"�-����
��������������������#��������'������������������������������=��%�������0������������"����
����<���"��"��
��������/�����
�������%����"�����������"��������������#��������
���-�
;(�������/���"�'������"������"����������%��-�����-� ����<���"��"��
��������������"�
'�������"0��	��'��������%��"��������"�-����������������/�����������#���%�����"�����
��������������������������-������"����������������������������"�����'���������������0�
�
	�� $��%��:	������ ���%��"�"� '�� �������� ����� #���� �����"� ��� '�������� -��#��"�
��������#���=���������/�����#���"����"����������#�����������������#���%����'������
"�� ��� #������� ���������� ������ �"��������0� � ��#����/� ���� -���� ��� %��%���� #���"� '��
�����"�'��"�����������%��������-�������%����'����-�������������������0��&-�������#����
�������������������"�"����'������"��%��/����������"�'��"�����#������%�������/���'����
#������ ���������(���-� ��%�������������-� ���������������0� ������'�����������"� �����
���� ��-��������� ������� ������ '�� %������������ ���%-��� ��� ���������� ��������0� � A�����
���'���������"����������"��������"�����#���"�������� ������� ��%�������������-� ����
�����������0� � &�� ���%����/� ������������� �-� !�#/�� ���"�������	���������� �����"�
������������"���%�������������(������������������'����0�
�

Page 2



 ������"�@�$����!�9�$��%��:	��������"�����"�
��#��'��������"�-�����������%���>�����
��������� '�� ����%��">� ��"/� #����� %����'��/� ���� ��������� �-� !�#/� � � ��"� ������
	���������� ��%���� '���� ��� ������ ��������� ��"�� '�� ��������#���� ����� #���"�
�������������#�����%��%���"�������������������'��������-��#��"0�
�

+B� ��.�����	��	����/����.��	�4�3	5�������������2�����	��3	5�����
�
$�������������-�!�#/�� ���"�������	������������%����"���������%��������#����������
�����������-����� �����������-�&���������������#��������4777�� &���/�#������������"�
��#� %�'���� '�"���� ���"� ������������� �����"�0� � $��� 
������/� ����� ������ ������
�����������/�#����������"��������"������"��������������#�����"��������#����������%�'����
���������-�������%��%�����-�%�������������"������������������%����������"����"��0�$���
A--�����-� ����<������������
�������������A<
��#��� ���%����'��� -�������������� ����
�%���������-� &��/���"�����
���������"�������������������A<
��������������'��������
���������-���������������%�#���0��$���
���������"�'����������'.�����-��#�����%��������
'�� ���� A<
/� ��� ����� 477+� ��"� ����� 477B/� ��� #���� ��� �� ������� �����#� '�� ���� �#��
&����������"���<������0�$��������������%����"�����������-�������������"��������-������
�����#���"�'����-�������
������=�����������"������"�����������������-� &������'��
�%"���"0�
�
$��������������������"��������������"�'������ ������"�������-������%��������������
��'.���� �-� ������������� ��"� ��� %�������"� �� �����A--���� "�������� ����� ������� ���
��������������-� ������������%�����0�$���
���������"����"�"������"�������������� ���
��%%���� ������-����������������������������%��������-� &��/���"�������������477B678�
��"�������"�,1���������������0�$�����������"���������������������"�'�����������������:
�������
���������$�����+2����"�����$��"����<���"��"��������C�/���"����������-�����
%�#���� ��"� �������"� ��� ������ ������� ��� "����#���� ������ ���"���� ��"� ��� �'����� ������
��"������������������:�������'��������0�
�
$������������%�������"�����%���-� ���� �������A<
����%���������%������"��������"� ����
��������������'������
�������������%�����������������"������0���������%�������"���
������"� ������� ��"� �����"���� ��� ���� ���� �-� %�#���� ��"���  &��/� #����� ��"� '����
�����"���"�'������
���-�A--������	����������$������"�#���"�'��%�������"��������
��(�� �������� �-� ���� 
�'����� -��� �%%�����0� � ��� �""�"� ����� ���� 
������� #���"� '��
��'.���������-�������A<
����%������������������������/�#�����#���"�����������"�?�����
�-�����������������������#�������%����0�
�
&�� ���%����� ��� ��������� -���� ���'���/� ���� ��������� ��%����"� ����� ������������
�--��������"����'�������-��"���������������-���������������������#����������������������"�
��"� ��� '�� %��%���������� ��� ���� ����� ���� 
������� #��� �������� ��� "���� #���0� ����
���%����'��6���������"��--�������-�����
��������������"������������������#������?����"�
��� '�� ������"� ��� ������ ������ �#�� ������ ��"� ����� ������������ #���"� ��#���� '��
��"�������0�
�
	��'���� �������"� ���� ���"� -��� ����  &��� %������� ��� '�� �����%������ ��� ��"��� ���
����������%�'��������������'��������������-�%������0�
�
���
����� � ���!� !����
�$"��!� 63
�#��� ����3�
���$���
�� !�������
%�3
7����
$�����!�����'$��!#
��
%������!#'�!
���3
7������!8�+�����
����(��$+9��!�!
�!���
%$�!����"#�
���"���"��!���
7��$''��!���:#���$�#�'�!�����"���
%����&
��#+���

%%#����;,�
�

Page 3



+8� 3�������-�3�.	/�����������
�5	�<������		�<����
�
$�������������-�!�#/�� ���"�������	������������%����"������������"���
����������
��"����������������"�������-������������#��-�����
������=������������������������������
%���������%�0��&��#����(%����"����������
���������=����%����#���"������������������"�
-�������
��������������������������%���������%��������������#����������0��$������������
�����%������/�������������%�*����������3����#������"�$���������"�'����"�����"����
��"��� ������"��������"����'������"��--������ ��� ������"��������#����%���������%�0� � &��
#���"� ����� ����#� ���� 
������=�� %�������� ��� ���� ���� ���� %�����%���� ��"� ?�������
����"��"�� ����� ��� #��� ��������"� ��� ��"� ��#� ��� #��� %������� �����'�������� ��"� ��:
�%����������������������-������%��������0�
�
$��� ��������� ��������"� ����/� #������ ������� ��"� �� ���"� �����"� ��� ��������� ���
%���������%� #������/� ��� #��� ����� ��� '�� "��#�� ����� ����� ������������� #�������
���������������������/���"�����
���������"����'��������������������-� �����������������
#���� -��� -��� %��%���0� � $��� $������� %����"�"� �� ���������� -��� ������ ����� %���������%�/�
%������%�����/� �����#���"/�#�������������/�#���"��#��0� �$���$������� �"����-��"��� �����
�--����� -��� ����� %���������%� #���� #����� ���� 
������� #��� ���������� �������"0� � $���
$������� "����� #���� %�����%���/� ��"� �������������#���"� ����� ��� '�� �������"� -��� �����
%���������%0�
�
	��'���� "�������"� ���� "�������� ��"� ��������"� ����� �� ���� �������� �-� �����
������������� #���"� '�� ��� ����'����� ����� %������=�� ������ �-� ������ ��"� ��#� �����
%���������%�#���"������"��������0��&��#������������%��"�������������������#�/������"���
���������������%������/�#���"�'�����������0�
�
���
����� ����!(��$+9��!�!
�!���"#�
���"���"��!���
7�"��!#
����:#���$�#�'�
$&��!#�'� !��� ��"��� ���1
�� !#!���� 
%� ���&
��#+��� 
%%#����;(� !��� 3��!�����#&�
���"�7
�=������

�=#!�+�����
����(� !�����+#��!�+�����#�������
��#�'�������
!����
$��#��+�����
""������!
��&&�
���!����
�$"��!������#��
�&
��!��!��"�
#�!
�!����
��!#!$!#
�,�
�

+C� ��.�������.�	��.���������-	�3������4��
�
3������� ��� ������� 58� �+76C678�/� ���� ��������� �-� !�#/� � � D� ������ 	����������
��%����"� ��� ���� �������� %�������� ��� ��������� ��� ���� ������������ �-� �--���� �-� ��-��� ��"�
���%�������0��A�����������'��
����������
�������/�"���������"�"/����#���@��
�
���
����� ����!�
�
:>;� !����
""#!!���7���
"���!�����&
�!?�
�
:�;� #�� !��� #�!����!�� 
%� ����#!�(� ���� !
� ��
#�� ���� �
�%$�#
�(� !��� �
""#!!���
��@$��!��!��!�!����#���!
��
%���7(�-����������!�
���'�"��!�7�#!���!
�������#�%�
	%%#����� ���� -����� 
%� ����#��� #�%
�"#�'� !��"� �	�� !
� ���
��� ���� '#%!�� 
��
�
�&#!��#!��
��+����%�
%�����!���"�"+����#��������'#�!���(�������@$��!#�'�!��!�
!���#�%
�"�!#
��#��!�����!!���+������������
7��!
�����
%%#����,�
�
:�;� !��� �
""#!!��� ��@$��!�� !��!� !��� �#���!
�� 
%� ��7(� -�� ���� ����!�

���'�"��!�7�#!��� !
� ���� ����!���"�"+���� ��"#��#�'� !��"�
%� !��#�� �
��� ����
#��#�#�$������&
��#+#�#!��!
A�
�

Page 4



:�;� ��'#�!���'#%!�������
�&#!��#!��#��!�����'#�!���
%�"�"+��B��#�!����!�(�7�#���
#�������7#!�#��!�����'�������
�"+�������#�������!#
��:#�%
�"#�'�"�"+����!��!�
!���

�.
�� ���!�"� %
�� !��� ���
��#�'� 
%� '#%!�� ���� �
�&#!��#!�� #�� �
!(� ��� ��!(�
���+����������
$����
!�+��$����$�!#���$���!#"��!��!�#!�#�����+���;?�
�
:+;� �
!#%��
����!���

�#!
�#�'�	%%#���(�
���#���
"#���(�#��7�#!#�'�
%�'#%!������
�
�&#!��#!�(�#�����
�������7#!��!����
��?�
�
����#���$����7#!��!��!���!!���2�
�

•� ���
&��
%�!����!��������C
����%��!����!�#������!#
��!
�'#%!������
�
�&#!��#!�?�

•� #�%
�"�!#
��!��!�#!�#��+��!�&���!#������
�!
���'#�!���'#%!�������
�&#!��#!��
!��!���������#���?�

•� �
!#%#��!#
��!��!(�#��
�����!
���
#�������
�%$�#
�����!
�7�
���
���&
��#+#�#!��#!�"���+��!
���'#�!���'#%!�������
�&#!��#!�(��
$��#��
%%#����(�

!����!����!���

�#!
�#�'�	%%#����
���#���
"#���(�����+�#�'�#��!�$�!���
�	��!
����
�������'#%!��
���
�&#!��#!��
��+����%�
%�����!���"�"+����#��
�#!����!������!������'#�!���
%�'#%!�������
�&#!��#!�(�
��#��������&��!"��!���
��'#�!����!��!�"���+����!#���:����7�#�������#�!������%
��
%%#�����!
�
��'#�!�������#�!����!��
��'#%!��!��!�!���������&���
����������#���;,�

�
:D;� !����
""#!!������
���@$��!��!��!�!����#���!
���
!#%#�������!�
�������!���
"�"+����7�
� ���� �&&
#�!��� !
� *
#�!� C
����� 
�� 
$!�#��� +
�#��� :!��!� ����� ��
�
��� 
%� �
��$�!� #�� 
&���!#
�;� 
%� !��#�� ���&
��#+#�#!�� !
� ���
��� ���� '#%!�� 
��
�
�&#!��#!������&!���
������#����7#!��+
!��!����
$��#������!��#��*
#�!�C
����1�

$!�#���+
��,�
�
:E;� !��� �
""#!!��� %$�!���� ��@$��!�� !��!� !��� �#���!
�� �����'��� 7#!�� �
"��
$�'����A�

�

:#;� !��#�#�'� ����#
��� 
�� !��� �
��� 
%� �
��$�!� #�� 
����� !
� ���$��� ����!���
"�"+���� ���� %$���� �7���� 
%� !��� ��@$#��"��!�� 
%� !��� �
��� ���� !��#��
���&
��#+#�#!#���#���
"&��#�'�7#!��#!?�
�
:##�;� !��#�#�'� ����#
��� 
�� !��� 

�.
�� ���!�"� #�� 
����� !��!(� 7���� #!� #��
���+���(�����!���"�"+����7#���+���+���!
�$���#!��%%#�#��!��(��%%��!#���������7#!��
�
�%#������ %
�� ���� ��&��!�� 
%� !��� ���!�"� ���� &��!#�$������ 7#!�� ��'���� !
� !���
%��#�#!��!
����
�������&!���
������#����'#%!�������
�&#!��#!�,�
�

,7� �����������
C�4�	�������������	

��������
�
���
����� ����!�!����#���!
��+

=�%#���&������%
��!�#������!�2�
���%
����"�"+���

%������
%�!���&
�#!#����'�
$&�(�
���%
�����#���&�����!�"�"+�������
���%
��!���
�#���!
�(�7#!������F!���&�����%
�����#���&�����!�"�"+���#%�����
%�!���&
�#!#����
'�
$&��#���
!��+���!
�&�
�#������
"#���,�
�

,5� �	��-�5��������3�������
�
C�����	��
��
�
$��� 
��������=�� ���������� #��� "��#�� ��� ���� )����:����� &�"�%��"���� 	��'���=�
3����/�#����������������������"�--������������������"����������:#���0�
�

Page 5



���
�����  � ���!� !�#�� �
""#!!��B�� #���&�����!� "�"+���� +�� ���
$��'��� !
�
&��!#�#&�!��#��!����
�$",�
�

,4� �G�
3�����	�
���	��2��G�����	��	��
�
C����	���-��3�C�����
�
���
�����2����!(�$��������!#
��>��:�;:D;�
%�!����
����.
����"��!���!�>�)�(�!���
&$+�#�� +�� �F��$���� %�
"� !��� "��!#�'� �$�#�'� �
��#����!#
�� 
%� !��� %
��
7#�'�
#!�"�� 
%� +$�#����� 
�� !��� '�
$���� !��!� !���� #��
���� !��� �#=���� �#���
�$��� 
%�
�F�"&!�#�%
�"�!#
�������%#����+��!����������!�&���'��&��
%�3��!���
%������$���
>���:����"�����;�!
�!��!���!,�
�

,+� ����������C	����������	���	������
�
$�������������-�!�#/��0 0���"�������	������������%����"���������%����������������
���������������/�-����%%��%�������������/���"�'������-����"��������<���"��"��
���"�-���
;�����"� '�� ���� &������� ����������� �����0� � $��� 
���"E�� "�������� ��"� '���� ����� ���
#���"���������-�������������0�
�
���
�����2����!�!������#�#
��+���
!��,�
�

,,� 	
C���
����	
3������2��	
3������	��:
���;��
�
$���
����������"���������"���������-�����������������������������'��������������#��-�
�������"��������"�����-�������"������������������������%��������������������0�
�
$��� ��������� �-� �"���� <������ <�������� ��%����"� ��� ���� �������������� �-� �� �����
������������������������-������������"�����������"�'����������'.�����-������%���������
����!�����*����������A�'�"����0� �$�������"�'���������'����-���������� ��� ����
���%�����/� ����� ���� �-� #����� ��"� '���� �%���"/� ������� ����� ������ ��"� '���� ���
������%��'���"������������������������-����������#�����0�������������/�����A�'�"�����
��"� ��������"�"� ������������-����%���������'��%��"� ��� ����%������ ��� ��-����� ����
%����������%�������������"���������-�������������-����������-���-���������/�����-�������
���%����"�����%�����������"�����������-��������#������%%����-����������-����������0��$���
������#��� �����"���"� ��� '�� �?��������� ���#���� ����
������� ��"� ���� �%���� ��� ����
���������=������/������������������"�'�����������"������?���������������0�
�
$��� 
��������� "�������"� ���� '����� �-� ���� %��%���"� ���%��������� ��"� �������
��-����������-�#�������%��#����'���������������������������������������������#���"�
���������������0�
�
 ������"�@��
�
�5�� $���� ���� '����� -��� ���� %��%���"� ���%��������� '�� ����%��"� ��"� �� ���� �-�
F+7/777�'��%��"����	�� 0�
�
�4�� $���� ����
��������� ������ ���� ��%������������ �-� ���������������� "��#�� �%�
-����#��������<�����4����%�����0�
�
�+�� $���
�������������������������������-������������-��������"����������"���������
��� ��� ������ ����� '���� ����
���"���=��<�������� ��"� !�-������ !�������� ��"� ����<������

���/� ������� ��"� &��������� A������#� ��"� <�������� 
���������� ���� %��%������ ���
�����#���"���?������������������������-����������������'����%����"������������������0�

Page 6



�
�

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Ethical
Governance

Wirral Council

Audit 2008/09 

June 2009 

Agenda Item 3

Page 9



Status of our reports 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit 
Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors and of the audited 
body. Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to
non-executive directors/members or officers. They are prepared for the sole use of 
the audited body. Auditors accept no responsibility to: 

! any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or  

! any third party.

Contents

Summary report 3

Detailed report 7

Appendix 1 – Standards Committee - terms of reference 20

Appendix 2 – Action Plan 21

Page 10



Summary report 

3   Wirral Council 

Summary report 

Introduction

1 Confidence in local democracy is a cornerstone of our way of life. It can only be 
achieved when elected and co-opted members of local authorities are seen to live 
up to the high standards the public has a right to expect from them. 

2 In recent years there has been an increased emphasis on standards and conduct 
in public life. The findings of the Committee on Standards in Public Life, the Local 
Government Act 2000 and the introduction of the Standards Board for England 
(SBE) are all factors in the current weighting being given to the need for strong 
ethical governance in local councils. This was also reinforced by the Chief 
Executive of the SBE in his November 2006 letter to local authority Chief 
Executives where he stressed the roles of Chief Executives and leading members 
in influencing organisational culture and supporting the ethical environment. 

3 High ethical standards are the cornerstone of good governance. They are an 
integral part of good corporate governance arrangements and can lead to 
increased confidence in local democracy and better public services. Setting high 
ethical standards is an important building block for councils in developing their 
community leadership role and improving services to the community. Councils 
are also becoming involved in increasingly complex partnerships and poor ethical 
standards may adversely affect these arrangements. 

4 Ethical governance is an area of great interest to the national and local press, 
particularly when things go wrong. Local authorities and individual members face 
a number of risks, including investigation for alleged breaches of the Code of 
Conduct, sometimes leading to the disqualification of members, loss of 
confidence and trust in individual members, councils and local democracy and 
poor decision making. 

5 On average nationally, one member a week was removed from office in 2006. 
Other sanctions have included formal censure and suspension from using council 
facilities. Issues included bullying behaviour, misuse of council resources, 
bringing a council into disrepute and using the position as a member for personal 
gain. The high number of disqualifications has now reduced but it is important 
that the spotlight stays on high ethical governance standards. The economic 
recession, for example, has placed added pressure on members and officers to 
proactively manage the Council's finances and other resources, particularly 
where costs and demands for services are increasing.

6 One of the common aspects of governance failures is not the absence of 
frameworks, controls and arrangements but the absence of appropriate 
behaviours and values amongst members and officers. This audit therefore looks 
at Wirral Council's compliance with statutory requirements and also at behaviour, 
culture and values. 

Page 11



Summary report 

Wirral Council  4

Background 

7 This work is based on the requirements of Part III of the Local Government Act 
2000 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. 
Every local authority is required to adopt a Members' Code of Conduct that sets 
out the rules governing the behaviour of its members. A new model Code of 
Conduct was issued by the government in April 2007. Wirral Council adopted the 
revised Code in its model form in May 2007. The Code covers areas of individual 
behaviour such as members not abusing their position or not misusing the 
Council's resources. In addition, it includes rules governing disclosure of interest 
and withdrawal from meetings where members have relevant interests. Members 
must also record their financial and other interests. 

8 All councils were required to establish, by May 2002, a Standards Committee to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct for members. One of their roles 
is to create a sense of ‘ethical well-being’ in the authority. A new locally based 
system for dealing with complaints about local authority members’ conduct came 
into force in May 2008. The new framework gives Standards Committees 
responsibility for the initial assessment of all allegations that a member of their 
authority may have breached the Code of Conduct. It also gives them 
responsibility for any subsequent investigations, decisions and sanctions. This is 
except where cases cannot be handled locally because of their highly sensitive 
nature.

9 Wirral Council has 66 councillors. The Conservative Group is the largest party 
with 24 seats; Labour has 21 and the Liberal Democrat Group has 20, with 1 
Independent councillor. A Leader and Cabinet of Labour and Liberal Democrat 
Councillors govern the Council. The governance arrangements also include ten 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees and a Standards Committee whose terms of 
reference cover the model framework.

10 The Council's net revenue budget (2008/09) was £298.7 million. Services are 
delivered by seven departments: Adult Social Services; Children and Young 
People; Corporate Services; Finance; Law, Human Resources and Asset 
Management; Regeneration; and Technical Services. 

Audit approach 

11  The aim of this work is to assess how far: 

! the Council complies with Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 and the 
relevant sections of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007; 

! the Council ensures that the Standards Committee has access to the right 
information and support to enable it to do its job properly; 

! members and officers understand and are aware of ethical issues;   

! members abide by the Code of Conduct; and

! members and officers have training needs in this area. 

Page 12



Summary report 

5   Wirral Council 

12 This work covers four key lines of enquiry. 

! Balancing rules and trust: supporting the genuine motivation of people while 
ensuring that those who do breach the rules are challenged. 

! Independent overview: monitoring, developing and promoting the Council’s 
approach to the ethical agenda and how far this is delivering improvement. 

! Leadership: encouraging good conduct in the Council, including in relation to 
the equalities and diversity agenda. 

! Transparency: ensuring transparency in the way that the Council carries out 
its business. 

13 The work comprised:

! an electronic survey of members, senior managers and Democratic Services 
officers in the Council; and   

! an assessment of how well the Council's ethical governance arrangements 
are working - including document review, interviews and focus groups. 

Main conclusions 

14 The Council has a good understanding of the key ethical governance issues that 
it faces and the action needed to promote and maintain standards. Positive 
features include: 

! the Members' Code of Conduct is generally operating effectively and the 
behaviour of members and officers is mostly appropriate; 

! members and officers work well together to achieve the Council's common 
goals;

! the membership of the Standards Committee complies with the legislation - 
the Chair and Vice-chair are independent members;

! the Council has a good approach to promoting equality and diversity in its 
policies and services;  

! both the Leader and Chief Executive are considered to be role models in 
promoting the ethical agenda; and 

! the Council is taking active steps to encourage good conduct by members 
and officers and to improve transparency in the way that it carries out its 
business.

Page 13



Summary report 

Wirral Council  6

15 Although the survey findings are encouraging - and more positive than the 
average in many areas - they also pinpoint issues where further work and clarity 
is needed. In particular the findings suggest that some members and officers 
could be helped to develop a better understanding of ethical governance in the 
Council. For example, members and officers have different perceptions about 
how members abide by the Code of Conduct and the extent to which 
communication between them is constructive. The survey results suggest that 
greater communication about the ethical framework and a wider understanding of 
each other's role would strengthen working relationships and improve delivery of 
the ethical agenda.

16 Other areas for development include: 

! raising the profile of the Council's Standards Committee through proactive 
work and ensuring that all members of the Committee have access to the 
right information to carry out all its functions effectively; 

! reviewing the level of training for members and officers on the ethical agenda;

! creating a culture in which members and officers can:  

" make allegations of misconduct by a member or an officer without fear of 
reprisal and be confident in the action they should take;

" challenge member recommendations and council decisions to improve
openness and transparency; and 

" be assured that inappropriate behaviour is suitably dealt with. 

! clarifying the use of council resources for political and non-political purposes;  

! raising trust and confidence in local government and democracy; and 

! increasing awareness of the Whistleblowing Policy and re-enforcing 
assurances that reporting through this mechanism can be done without fear 
of reprisal. 

17 The Council also needs to consider whether it is satisfied with results that are 
more generally positive than the other comparator councils or whether it aspires 
to higher standards. 

18 An action plan has been agreed with council officers (Appendix 2) to address the 
issues arising from this review. The report and action plan are presented to the 
Standards Committee to agree the content and comment on the action plan 
before being finalised. The report, survey results and action plan provide the 
members of the Standards Committee with a baseline assessment of where the 
Council is now and a positive framework for strengthening ethical governance 
arrangements to result in increased confidence in local democracy and better 
outcomes for local people.

Page 14



Detailed report 

7   Wirral Council 

Detailed report 

Balancing rules and trust

19 The Members' Code of Conduct is generally operating effectively. Our surveys 
show that around 90 per cent of members report that they 'always or usually' 
abide by the Code. Officers' perception is much less - at 67 per cent - although a 
third of officers don't know.

20 The behaviour of members and officers is mostly appropriate and consistent with 
findings from other surveys. Around 85 per cent of members, compared with
68 per cent of officers report that members perform their duties with honesty, 
integrity and impartiality. A small number of complaints about members' 
behaviour also suggest that the Code is generally working effectively. Only in 
isolated instances have allegations been made that - if substantiated - could 
reasonably be regarded as behaviour bringing their office or authority into 
disrepute.

21 The relationship amongst members is similar to that in other councils.
Forty nine per cent of members say that members always or usually trust each 
other and 39 per cent say 'sometimes'. Sixty eight per cent of members say that 
they treat other members fairly. Occasionally insulting comments are made by 
members about other members in a public meeting. It is important that members 
recognise a balance between proper, political debate and forthright exchange of 
views and how their behaviour is perceived.

22 The behaviour of officers is generally appropriate and well regarded. The Council 
has approved a code of conduct for officers. This code covers honesty, integrity, 
impartiality and objectivity; accountability; respect for others; personal interests; 
openness; and the use of the internet and electronic mail facilities. Our survey 
found that 88 per cent (above average) of members and 96 per cent (average) of 
officers say that officers perform their duties with honesty, integrity, impartiality 
and objectivity. Eighty four per cent of officers say that officers always or usually 
trust each other. Where behaviour is allegedly not appropriate action is generally 
taken, including internal or external investigations.  

23 The Council has integrated the Members' Code of Conduct in its equality policies 
and schemes. The Code - in line with the model Code and the ten general 
principles of public life - requires members not to do anything which may cause 
the Council to breach any of the equality enactments. They should promote 
equality by not discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating 
people with respect, regardless of their race, age, religion, gender, sexual 
orientation or disability. These principles are reflected in the Council's Equality 
and Diversity Policy and Strategy.

Page 15



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  8

24 The trust between members and officers is about average. Both groups agree on 
how fairly officers treat members but how members treat officers, uphold their 
impartiality and listen to their advice is perceived differently. The Council has 
adopted a protocol on member and officer relations. In particular it defines the 
roles of officers and members, officer advice to party groups, briefings for Cabinet 
and committees and members’ access to information. Our survey also found that: 

! 63 per cent of members and 59 per cent of officers say that officers and 
members trust each other but a quarter say only 'sometimes';

! 88 per cent of members compared with 76 per cent of officers say that 
members always or usually listen to the advice of officers;

! 85 per cent of members compared with 76 per cent of officers say that 
members treat officers fairly; and

! 88 per cent (above average) of members and 76 per cent of officers (above 
average) say that members always or usually uphold the officers' impartiality.

25 Appropriate confidences are mainly considered to be kept by officers and 
members but to varying degrees. Seventy five per cent of members compared 
with 59 per cent of officers say that they are always or usually kept by members. 
Seventy six per cent of members and 84 per cent of officers say that they are 
kept by officers. However, occasional leaks of confidential information to the 
media do occur. In certain circumstances such disclosure of, for example, a 
potential development can create a risk of public anxiety and compromise 
negotiations with the Council.    

26 Members and officers work well together to achieve the Council's common goals. 
But, again, working together and amongst each other are perceived differently: 

! 64 per cent (above average) of members and 79 per cent (average) of 
officers say they work well together to achieve common goals, but 31 per cent 
of members say 'sometimes';

! 44 per cent (below average) of members and 52 per cent (above average) of 
officers say that members always or usually work well together, but 44 per 
cent of members and 32 per cent of officers say 'sometimes'; and

! 70 per cent (average) of members and 90 per cent (average) of officers say 
officers work well together to achieve common goals.

Whilst members will have differing political opinions and priorities, a high level of 
collaboration means that it is more likely that councils will improve outcomes and 
the quality of life for local people.

Page 16



Detailed report 

9   Wirral Council 

27 Members are not totally convinced that they make allegations of member or 
officer misconduct appropriately or can do so without fear of reprisal. Our survey 
found that understanding was similar to that in other councils and that always or 
usually:

! 61 per cent of members make allegations of member misconduct 
appropriately;

! 56 per cent make such allegations without fear of reprisal but 23 per cent 
don't know; and 

! 54 per cent of members consider that they can make an allegation of officer 
misconduct without fear of reprisal but 32 per cent don't know. 

28 These findings are consistent with how confident officers consider that they can 
make an allegation of member misconduct without fear of reprisal. Officers are 
more confident (79 per cent) about making an allegation about misconduct by 
another officer than by a member making such an allegation against another 
member (56 per cent). However, 34 per cent of officers don’t know if they can 
make an allegation of member misconduct without fear of reprisal.

Recommendation

R1 Emphasise to members and officers that they can:

!  make allegations of misconduct by a member or an officer without fear of 
reprisal; and

!  be confident in the actions they should take as individuals if they become 
aware of such misconduct.

Independent overview   

29 The Standards Committee is operating appropriately and members are keen to 
develop arrangements to ensure it operates more proactively. Guidance, 
information and training are provided for councillors on the Committee but have 
been limited for Independent members.

30 The membership of the Standards Committee complies with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 2000 and the Standards Committee (England) 
Regulations 2008. It has 12 members including 3 independent members - 2 of 
which are the Chair and Vice-chair of the Committee - and 3 members from each 
political party. Independent members are important for increasing public 
confidence in local government. They bring a wider perspective from their own 
experiences and can provide a clear signal that the Committee acts fairly, 
impartially.

Page 17



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  10

31 Independent members were appointed following an advertisement in a local 
newspaper. In addition, vacancies were drawn to the attention of local people 
who receive the Wirral Governor newsletter, are on the Older People’s Parliament 
distribution list and are members of the Wirral Council for Voluntary Services and 
the Chamber of Commerce. Applicants were asked to declare any political 
interests - this is good practice and helps to increase public confidence in the 
fairness of the Committee. They were interviewed by the spokespersons of all 
three political parties and the Council approved their recommendation. The 
recruitment process helps to attract members with a keen interest in standards in 
public life and a wish to serve the local community and uphold local democracy. 

32 The terms of reference of the Standards Committee are included in the Council's 
Constitution, which is published on its website. They include:

! promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by members;

! assisting them to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct, advising the 
Council on the adoption or revision of the Code and monitoring its operation; 

! advising, training or arranging training for members on the Code;

! dealing with reports from a case tribunal, the Monitoring Officer and Local 
Government Ombudsman; and 

! monitoring and reviewing the operation of whistleblowing procedures.

33 The terms of reference of the Standards Committee are set out in full at
Appendix 1. The Constitution also details the terms of reference and membership 
of the Standards Initial Assessment, the Standards Review and the Standards 
Hearings panels. It specifies the assessment criteria - for considering whether or 
not a complaint should be investigated or no further action should be taken - and 
the protocol for dealing with complaints of an alleged breach of the Members' 
Code of Conduct.

34 The Committee's governance role also includes, for example, receiving reports 
from the Local Government Ombudsman and advising the Council on the 
appointment of independent members. Giving the Committee wider-reaching 
responsibilities is a positive step. It also provides a workload which is regular and 
interesting and should aid the retention and recruitment of independent members.

Page 18



Detailed report 

11   Wirral Council 

35 Members of the Standards Committee demonstrate a commitment and 
willingness to maintain and enhance ethical standards across the Council. But 
much work needs to be done to raise awareness of the Committee. Opportunities 
exist for development particularly in explaining how its role supports the ethical 
agenda and ensuring the required standards of behaviour by members and 
officers. Our survey shows that more than three quarters of officers and members 
say that the work of the Committee adds value to the Council: 

! 39 per cent of members and 52 per cent of officers don’t know if it is making a 
positive difference to the way people outside the Council view the 
organisation; and 

! 22 per cent of members and 40 per cent of officers don’t know if the 
Standards Committee or Monitoring Officer monitors member behaviour 
against the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

36 Further opportunities exist for the Committee to be proactive. It could, for 
example, undertake an assessment of standards in the Council and consider the 
effectiveness of the codes of conduct and complaints and whistleblowing policies. 
Its work has largely been to receive officers' reports and - in a few instances - to 
consider alleged inappropriate behaviour by members. However, the Chair is 
currently attending Council and committee meetings to observe member 
behaviour. This is a positive step. It is intended that the Monitoring Officer will 
discuss with the Chair if any action is needed to improve compliance with the 
Code. Periodic ethical audits highlight any systemic weaknesses. 

37 The Committee does not have a workplan, nor does it produce an annual report 
on the ethical health of the Council and on its work. It does not consider how, for 
example, the work of internal audit and scrutiny and select committees, reports 
on complaints and whistleblowing cases and from external bodies like the Audit 
Commission, could inform its own agenda. A work programme prevents ethics 
slipping off the agenda. The Committee can provide a useful structure for learning 
from the experiences and cases in other authorities. In particular it can provide 
support to officers when faced with a highly politicised environment.   

Recommendation

R2 Raise the profile of the Standards Committee by: 

!  developing a work programme and action plan;

!  undertaking an annual assessment of standards of conduct of 
members and officers and taking action as appropriate; 

!  learning from and using the findings of the allegations it receives, 
reviews, determinations and reports from the Local Government 
Ombudsman, internal and external audit, complaints and 
whistleblowing to plan and evaluate its work; and 

!  communicating its work to a wider public. 

Page 19



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  12

38 Standards, codes of conduct and ethical protocols are regularly reviewed or 
updated following new legislation or revised national guidance. The terms of 
reference of the Standards Committee were amended in July 2008 and the 
member and officer protocol was amended in 2007. The revised Members' Code 
of Conduct allows greater participation by members with prejudicial interests. 
Other changes included: 

! allowing the disclosure of confidential information if it is reasonable and in the 
public interest to do so, and if disclosure is made in good faith and in 
compliance with the reasonable requirements of the Council; 

! strengthening the obligation to have regard to any relevant advice given by 
the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer; and 

! adding a new personal interest where it is likely to affect the interests of any 
person from whom at least £25 worth of gift or hospitality has been received.

39 The Standards Committee has a limited role in ensuring that members and 
officers receive appropriate guidance, including training and information on the 
requirements of the ethical agenda. One of its terms of reference is 'to advise, 
train or arrange to train councillors' but training and guidance on ethical behaviour 
are provided by officers. Members have received written statements and 
guidance of how they should perform their duties, the ethical standards to which 
they are required and expected to adhere and examples of possible 
transgressions that could precipitate problems. A commentary on the Code is 
included in the Members Handbook.  

40 Members of the Standards Committee are provided with guidance issued by the 
SBE. Training has included a presentation from the Monitoring Officer, a question 
and answer session and a seminar on constitutional issues and the Member's 
Code of Conduct. The Chair of the Standards Committee and the party 
spokespersons have attended the SBE Annual Conference. However, our survey 
found the majority of officers don't know if guidance and training on ethics and 
conduct is mandatory or included in induction for members. Similarly, half of 
members don't know if such guidance is included in induction for officers.

41 Training and guidance for independent members of the Standards Committee 
has been limited. As a result they are not as well-informed and supported as they 
could be to fulfil their roles effectively.

Page 20



Detailed report 

13   Wirral Council 

Recommendation

R3 Review the level of training for members and officers on the ethical 
agenda and: 

! use information obtained through feedback and monitoring processes 
of individuals/groups/panels/committees and from other sources to 
plan training, development and support for individual members, 
groups of members and members of the Standards Committee and 
for officers; and 

! introduce for independent members an induction programme that 
includes training on the members' and officers' codes of conduct and 
the function of the Standards Committee and attendance at 
meetings of, for example, Cabinet, overview and scrutiny, planning 
and licensing committees and the full Council.

42 The Council has the resources needed for carrying out local investigations 
supported, where appropriate, by an external, independent case officer. 
Processes are in place to:   

! receipt and assess complaints such as the alleged inappropriate behaviour of 
a member;

! review decisions to take no action over complaints; 

! consider the Monitoring Officer's final investigation reports considering 
determination hearings; and 

! consider whether any allegation of misconduct should be referred to the SBE 
for investigation.

Leadership 

43 Overall members are seen as a focus for positive change. Sixty six per cent 
(average) of members and 51 per cent (above average) of officers say so, 
although 29 per cent of members and 27 per cent of officers say 'sometimes'. 

44 An integrated approach to equality, diversity and human rights is reflected in 
decision making, policies and practices for both service delivery and employment. 
The Council is developing a new Single Equality Scheme and action plan, which 
incorporates all six equality strands. It uses its statutory duties well to promote 
equality. Equal opportunities and human rights implications are considered in 
reports to members. Work is in progress to achieve level 3 of the Equality 
Standard for Local Government ('achieving') and the Council is due to be 
externally assessed in March 2009. 

Page 21



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  14

45 Progress towards equal opportunities in employment is demonstrated by the 
Council's workforce profile. The percentages of the top-paid five per cent of staff 
who are women or who have a disability are amongst the highest 25 per cent of 
councils. However, top earners and all employees from an ethnic minority 
community and employees with a disability are below the medians. Our survey 
also found that: 

! over 90 per cent of members and officers say that the Council seeks to meet 
the needs of its diverse communities;

! 69 per cent of members, compared with 81 per cent of officers say that the 
Council seeks to attract officers from diverse backgrounds, although almost a 
quarter of members don’t know; and 

! 73 per cent of members and 81 per cent of officers say that the Council 
ensures that staff are appropriately skilled to meet the needs of its diverse 
communities.

46 Members and officers have a different perception and understanding about 
guidance that is provided on equalities and human rights issues. 
Eighty nine per cent of members, compared with 64 per cent of officers, say that 
the guidance is appropriate, but 31 per cent of officers don't know if it is 
appropriate. Although 93 per cent of officers compared with 65 per cent of 
members say that appropriate guidance is provided for officers, 32 per cent of 
members don’t know.

47 Communication of ethical standards is considered to be good. But again 
members and officers do not have a full understanding about the information that 
each receives to promote high standards: 

! 73 per cent of members and 86 per cent of officers say that the Council’s 
approach to promoting high ethical standards is encouraging appropriate 
behaviour;

! 83 per cent of members and 62 per cent of officers say that the importance of 
high ethical standards is always or usually communicated to members; and 

! 66 per cent of members and 90 per cent of officers say that it is 
communicated to officers, but 32 per cent of members don't know. 

48 The Council's Chief Executive is considered to be a positive role model and 
proactive - by 88 per cent of members and 92 per cent of officers - in promoting 
the ethical agenda both inside and outside the Council. Eighty three per cent of 
members and 85 per cent of officers say that the Chief Executive always or 
usually promotes the importance of the ethical agenda. These figures are above 
average. He sets high personal standards, promotes appropriate behaviour and 
takes action where an issue could potentially undermine the reputation of the 
Council.  

Page 22



Detailed report 

15   Wirral Council 

49 The Leader of the Council is also considered to be a positive role model.
Sixty per cent of members and 81 per cent of officers replied 'always or usually' to 
this question. The Cheshire Lines Public Interest Report - published by the Audit 
Commission in 2005 - followed a request by the Leader for a review of the events 
surrounding the acquisition and subsequent development of this building and to 
make appropriate recommendations to improve the Council’s procedures.
Sixty one per cent of members and 71 per cent of officers say that the Leader 
always or usually promotes the importance of the ethical agenda. All these 
findings are above average  

50 The Monitoring Officer gives proactive advice both to individual members and 
corporately. Both the Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer and other 
officers are available to advise them at all reasonable times.
Seventy eight per cent of members and 66 per cent of officers say that the 
Monitoring Officer promotes the ethical agenda but a third of officers don't know. 
Providing guidance proactively helps to avoid potential infringements and resolve 
misunderstandings.

51 The Council could do more to promote confidence and trust in local government 
and local democracy beyond treating users of services fairly. A high percentage 
of members (95 per cent) and officers (73 per cent) say that members always or 
usually treat users of Council services fairly. Eighty seven per cent of members 
and 94 per cent of officers say that officers treat users fairly. Our survey found: 

! 46 per cent (average) of members and 66 per cent (above average) of 
officers say that the Council’s approach to promoting high ethical standards is 
helping to build public confidence in the Council but 22 per cent of members 
don't know; and 

! 68 per cent (above average) of members and 62 per cent (above average) of 
officers say that the importance of high ethical standards is communicated to 
local communities, but 20 per cent of members and 28 per cent of officers 
don't know.

52 Partners are not convinced that the importance of ethical standards is 
communicated to local partnerships. Three out of five partners who responded to 
the survey replied 'never' and one replied 'don't know'. In contrast 68 per cent 
(above average) of members and 66 per cent (average) of officers say that it is 
communicated to local partnerships although 22 per cent of members and
25 per cent of officers don't know. The partners were less complimentary about 
how the Council encourages good conduct. 

Recommendation

R4 Ensure that information on the Council's ethical governance arrangements and 
its expectations about high ethical standards by all is widely disseminated, both 
internally and externally. 

Page 23



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  16

Transparency  

53 The Council's Publication Policy and Access to Information Procedure Rules are 
included in the Constitution and are published on its website and Intranet. The 
website includes an introduction to the Freedom of Information Act, classes of 
information and individuals' rights. The wide availability though the website - with 
free access available at the borough's libraries - means that the public do not 
need to make a specific request under the Act. 

54 The members' and officers' codes of conduct and Standards Committee papers 
can also be accessed via the website. Alternatively users can obtain information 
at the Council's one stop shops and information points across the borough: 

! 82 per cent of members and officers say that the public can access the 
Members’ Code of Conduct, but 18 per cent of members and 28 per cent of 
officers don't know; and 

! 53 per cent of members and 70 per cent of officers say that the public can 
access the Officers’ Code of Conduct, but 30 per cent of officers don't know; 

55 Member protocols are generally clear. Members must, when using or authorising 
the use by others of the Council's resources (for example, ICT equipment), act in 
accordance with its reasonable requirements. They should do whatever they are 
able to do to ensure that the Council uses its resources prudently and lawfully: 

! 92 per cent per cent of members compared with 72 per cent of officers say 
that council policies on the use of its resources by members are clear; and

! 92 per cent of members compared with 65 per cent of officers say that the 
guidelines for members on their personal conduct are clear; 

56 The use of council resources is not entirely clear. For example, the Members' 
Code of Conduct states that such resources should not be used improperly for 
party political purposes. Thirty five per cent of members and 20 per cent of 
officers say that members usually or sometimes use the Council's resources for 
party political purposes. Members would benefit from clear guidance on what 
constitutes improper use in such circumstances.

Recommendation

R5 Clarify the circumstances in which the use of council resources would 
constitute improper use for party political purposes within the Members' Code 
of Conduct. 

Page 24



Detailed report 

17   Wirral Council 

57 The register of member interests is kept up to date and complete. Members are 
aware of the need to make appropriate disclosures of gifts, hospitality and 
pecuniary interests. They make appropriate disclosures in the register which is 
regularly reviewed. An annual reminder - to be replaced by a quarterly reminder - 
is sent to members to complete the information. They are also required to make a 
declaration even if there is ‘no change’ to their circumstances. Progress is being 
made in implementing and making available an electronic version of the register 
that is directly accessible via the Council's website. It is important that such 
disclosures are registered to avoid any perception by members of the public that 
decision makers could be unduly influenced when making a decision concerning 
a particular organisation.

58 Members are proactive in declaring personal and prejudicial interests at 
meetings. The Members’ Handbook contains an explanation that a dispensation 
can be sought, allowing them to take part in meetings where they have a 
prejudicial interest. The minutes of Council, Cabinet and committee meetings 
show that interests are regularly declared by members and the rules appear to be 
well understood. They are recorded in the minutes and a record of each 
member’s declaration is accessible on the website. No allegations of impropriety 
have been made with regard to the declaration of interests.

59 Not all members and officers are confident about challenging inappropriate 
behaviour although most say that the process for reporting is clear: 

! 72 per cent (average) of members say that they feel able to challenge other 
members’ inappropriate behaviour, but 20 per cent say 'sometimes'; 

! 45 per cent of officers say that officers feel able to challenge members’ 
inappropriate behaviour, but 37 per cent don't know; 

! 76 per cent of members (above average) say that they feel able challenge 
officers’ inappropriate behaviour; and 

! 69 per cent (above average) of officers say that officers feel able to challenge 
other officers’ inappropriate behaviour. 

60 Most members and officers do not consider that inappropriate behaviour by 
members is addressed. Only 43 per cent (below average) of members and
28 per cent (average) of officers say that such behaviour is suitably dealt with. 
Officers are more confident (77 per cent) than members (47 per cent) that 
inappropriate behaviour by officers is tackled. Members and officers have 
differing views on how bullying is tolerated in the Council:  

! 60 per cent (below average) of members and 67 per cent (average) of officers 
say that bullying by members is not tolerated, but 29 per cent of members say 
'sometimes'; and

! 71 per cent (above average) of members and 88 per cent (above average) of 
officers say bullying by officers is not tolerated. 

Page 25



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  18

61 The Council listens to and learns from constructive challenge, internally or 
externally, from the public or from official bodies. Ombudsman’s reports and 
actions arising are reported to the Standards Committee. External and Internal 
Audit reports and actions arising are reported through the Corporate Governance 
Group and the Audit and Risk Management Committee as appropriate. However, 
one in five members and officers consider that members only sometimes respond 
to constructive, external criticism. Furthermore, less than half of members and 
officers say that the Council learns from other councils to ensure that its ethical 
arrangements are appropriate. 

62 Communication between members is mostly open and constructive.  
Seventy six per cent of members say that communication between members is 
open and 63 per say that it is constructive, although a third say that it is only 
sometimes constructive. Over 82 per cent of officers say that communication 
between them is open and constructive. Members and officers agree that 
communication between each other is open but members (84 per cent) consider 
that it is more constructive than officers (70 per cent). About one in five say that 
communication is sometimes open and constructive.

63 Members are more confident than officers and partners about challenging 
member recommendations. Two thirds of members and officers say that there is 
a culture in the Council which allows members to challenge Council decisions 
without fear of reprisal. But only 55 per cent of officers say that the culture allows 
officers to challenge without fear of reprisal compared with 65 per cent of 
members. More than a fifth of officers and members replied 'don't know' to these 
questions and to how the culture allows the public and partners to challenge 
council decisions without fear of reprisals - only one out of five partners gave a 
positive response to this question.    

Recommendation

R6 Consider the implications of the survey results relating to communication 
between officers and members, challenging member recommendations and 
council decisions and tackling inappropriate behaviour to create a culture of 
openness and transparency.

64 The Council's complaints system is accessible via the website and through One 
Stop Shops and Information Points. The website details the procedure for dealing 
with complaints about schools, social services, other council services and 
councillors. Users can download and complete a form to complain about an 
alleged breach of the Members' Code of Conduct. Members and officers both say 
that they treat complaints from the public seriously but their perceptions are 
different:

!  97 per cent of members and 85 per cent of officers say that members take 
complaints from the public seriously; and  

! 87 per cent of members and 99 per cent of officers say that officers take 
complaints from the public seriously.  

Page 26



Detailed report 

19   Wirral Council 

65 The Council's Whistleblowing Policy is accessible to members and officers but it 
is not widely publicised to users. It cannot be easily accessed via the website - it 
is in fact included in a report to the Cabinet meeting of 3 April 2008. Following an 
internal governance review and subsequent comments by the Audit Commission 
a revised policy was introduced in 2008. The policy gives employees clear 
guidance on how to proceed if they have a concern and provides for more named 
officers within the Council that they will be able to approach in order to discuss 
their concerns.

66 During the last year the Audit Commission received details of an individual's 
concerns about contracts and charging in adult social services. Our review under 
the Public Interest Disclosure Act found the individual's concerns to be largely 
justified and we highlighted the failure of the Council's own systems for dealing 
with complaints and such concerns, including the whistleblowing procedure. A 
culture where employees can disclose allegations of malpractice internally is 
more likely to uphold the reputation of the Council, maintain public confidence 
and result in better outcomes for local people, than either such malpractice being 
disclosed to the public or it otherwise continuing to fester and harm the 
organisation.

67 But our survey did highlight some concerns about confidence in the 
whistleblowing arrangements. A third of members and officers don't know if the 
policy is being used appropriately or without fear of reprisal. This is a major gap in 
knowledge and weakens the ethical framework and the Council's approach to 
ensuring high standards of ethical governance.

Recommendation

R7 Increase awareness of the Whistleblowing Policy and re-enforce assurances 
that reporting through this mechanism can be done without fear of reprisal. 

Page 27



Appendix 1 – Standards Committee - terms of reference 

Wirral Council  20

Appendix 1 – Standards 
Committee - terms of reference 

The terms of reference of the Standards Committee are: 

! promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors,  
co-opted members and church and parent governor representatives; 

! assisting the Councillors and co-opted members and church and parent 
governor representatives to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

! advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct;

! monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

! advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, co-opted members and 
church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; 

! granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members and church and 
parent governor representatives from requirements relating to interests set 
out in the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

! dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and any 
report from the Monitoring Officer on any matter which is referred by an 
Ethical Standards Officer to the Monitoring Officer; 

! monitoring and reviewing as necessary the operation of whistleblowing 
procedures; 

! considering reports arising from external inspections, audit investigations, 
Ombudsman investigations where maladministration is found, legal 
challenges and other sources which cast doubt on the honesty or integrity of 
the Council or its members; 

! to consider and make recommendations on such other matters as the 
Committee itself thinks appropriate or which are referred to it by Council, 
which further the aim of promoting and maintaining the highest standards of 
conduct within the Authority; 

! approve the payment of compensation involving sums in excess of £5,000  
(or less, if considered appropriate) to settle complaints of maladministration; 
and

! establishing such sub-committees as are required or allowed by the 
Standards Committee (England) Regulations 2008 to deal with the initial 
assessment, review and hearing of complaints made alleging that an elected 
or co-opted Member of the Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply 
with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

Page 28



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 2
 –

 A
c
ti

o
n

 P
la

n
 

2
1
 
  

W
ir
ra

l 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 2

 –
 A

c
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 

P
a
g

e
n

o
.

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
1

 =
 L

o
w

2
 =

 M
e

d
3

 =
 H

ig
h

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
 

A
g

re
e

d
C

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 

D
a

te
 

9
R

1
 

E
m

p
h
a
s
is

e
 t
o
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n
d
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
y
 c

a
n
: 
 

!
m

a
k
e

 a
lle

g
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

f 
m

is
c
o
n

d
u
c
t 
b

y
 a

 m
e

m
b

e
r 

o
r 

a
n

 o
ff

ic
e

r 
w

it
h
o
u
t 
fe

a
r 

o
f 
re

p
ri
s
a
l;
 a

n
d
  

!
b

e
 c

o
n

fi
d

e
n

t 
in

 t
h

e
 a

c
ti
o

n
s
 t
h

e
y
 s

h
o

u
ld

 t
a

k
e

 a
s
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 
if
 t
h
e
y
 b

e
c
o
m

e
 a

w
a
re

 o
f 
s
u
c
h
 m

is
c
o
n
d
u
c
t.
  

3
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 

a
n
d
 A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

T
o
 b

e
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 

tr
a

in
in

g
 t
o

 b
e

 d
e

liv
e

re
d

 i
n

 r
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 
to

 R
3
 b

e
lo

w
. 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
9

1
1

R
2
 

R
a
is

e
 t
h
e
 p

ro
fi
le

 o
f 
th

e
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 b

y
: 

!
d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 a

 w
o
rk

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

n
d
 a

c
ti
o
n

 p
la

n
; 
 

!
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
in

g
 a

n
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 o

f 
c
o
n
d

u
c
t 
o
f 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n
d
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n
d
 t
a
k
in

g
 a

c
ti
o
n
 a

s
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

; 

!
le

a
rn

in
g
 f
ro

m
 a

n
d
 u

s
in

g
 t
h
e
 f
in

d
in

g
s
 o

f 
th

e
 a

lle
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
t 

re
c
e
iv

e
s
, 
re

v
ie

w
s
, 
d
e
te

rm
in

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
O

m
b
u
d
s
m

a
n
, 
in

te
rn

a
l 
a
n
d
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 

a
u
d
it
, 
c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 a
n
d
 w

h
is

tl
e
b
lo

w
in

g
 t
o
 p

la
n
 a

n
d
 e

v
a
lu

a
te

 
it
s
 w

o
rk

; 
a

n
d
 

!
c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
n

g
 i
ts

 w
o
rk

 t
o
 a

 w
id

e
r 

p
u

b
lic

. 

2
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 

a
n
d
 A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
2

0
0

9

Page 29



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 2
 –

 A
c
ti

o
n

 P
la

n
 

W
ir
ra

l 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

 
2
2

P
a
g

e
n

o
.

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
1

 =
 L

o
w

2
 =

 M
e

d
3

 =
 H

ig
h

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
 

A
g

re
e

d
C

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 

D
a

te
 

1
3

R
3
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
tr

a
in

in
g
 f
o
r 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n
d
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 o
n
 t
h
e
 

e
th

ic
a
l 
a
g
e
n
d
a

 a
n
d
: 

!
u

s
e

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 o

b
ta

in
e

d
 t
h

ro
u
g

h
 f
e

e
d
b
a

c
k
 a

n
d

 m
o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e

s
 o

f 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

/g
ro

u
p
s
/p

a
n
e

ls
/c

o
m

m
it
te

e
s
 a

n
d

 
fr

o
m

 o
th

e
r 

s
o
u

rc
e

s
 t
o

 p
la

n
 t
ra

in
in

g
, 
d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

in
d
iv

id
u
a
l 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

, 
g
ro

u
p
s
 o

f 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n
d
 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

o
ff
ic

e
rs

; 
a

n
d

!
in

tr
o

d
u
c
e

 f
o
r 

in
d

e
p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n

 i
n

d
u
c
ti
o

n
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t
h
a
t 
in

c
lu

d
e
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 o

n
 t
h
e
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

' a
n
d
 

o
ff
ic

e
rs

' c
o
d
e
s
 o

f 
c
o
n
d

u
c
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 a

n
d
 a

tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 a

t 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o

f,
 f
o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t,
 o

v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n
d
 s

c
ru

ti
n
y
, 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 

lic
e

n
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
it
te

e
s
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 f
u

ll 
C

o
u
n

c
il.

  

3
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 

a
n
d
 A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

B
o
th

 t
h
e
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 a

n
d
 

m
e

m
b

e
rs

 a
n

d
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 g
e

n
e
ra

lly
 

h
a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

tr
a
in

in
g

 
o
n
 t
h
e
 e

th
ic

a
l 
a
g
e
n
d
a
. 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
9

1
5

R
4
 

E
n

s
u
re

 t
h

a
t 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 o
n
 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 e

th
ic

a
l 
g

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

 
a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 i
ts

 e
x
p
e

c
ta

ti
o
n
s
 a

b
o
u

t 
h
ig

h
 e

th
ic

a
l 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 b

y
 a

ll 
is

 w
id

e
ly

 d
is

s
e
m

in
a
te

d
, 
b
o
th

 i
n
te

rn
a
lly

 a
n
d
 

e
x
te

rn
a
lly

.

2
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 

a
n
d
 A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
2

0
0

9

1
6

R
5
 

C
la

ri
fy

 t
h

e
 c

ir
c
u

m
s
ta

n
c
e
s
 i
n

 w
h

ic
h

 t
h

e
 u

s
e

 o
f 
c
o
u

n
c
il 

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 w

o
u

ld
 c

o
n

s
ti
tu

te
 i
m

p
ro

p
e

r 
u
s
e
 f
o

r 
p

a
rt

y
 p

o
lit

ic
a

l 
p
u
rp

o
s
e
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 M

e
m

b
e
rs

' C
o
d
e
 o

f 
C

o
n
d

u
c
t.
 

2
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 

a
n
d
 A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

G
u
id

a
n

c
e
 t
o
 b

e
 d

is
s
e
m

in
a
te

d
 t
o
 a

ll 
M

e
m

b
e
rs

.
S

e
p

te
m

b
e
r 

2
0

0
9

1
8

R
6
 

C
o

n
s
id

e
r 

th
e

 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

s
 o

f 
th

e
 s

u
rv

e
y
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g

 t
o

 
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n
d
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

, 
c
h
a
lle

n
g
in

g
 

m
e

m
b

e
r 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a

ti
o

n
s
 a

n
d

 c
o
u

n
c
il 

d
e

c
is

io
n

s
 a

n
d
 

ta
c
k
lin

g
 i
n

a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a

te
 b

e
h

a
v
io

u
r 

to
 c

re
a

te
 a

 c
u

lt
u

re
 o

f 
o

p
e

n
n

e
s
s
 a

n
d

 t
ra

n
s
p

a
re

n
c
y
. 
 

2
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 

a
n
d
 A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

T
o
 b

e
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 

tr
a

in
in

g
 t
o

 b
e

 d
e

liv
e

re
d

 i
n

 r
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 
to

 R
3
 a

b
o
v
e
. 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
9

1
9

R
7
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 W

h
is

tl
e
b
lo

w
in

g
 P

o
lic

y
 a

n
d
 r

e
-

e
n
fo

rc
e
 a

s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
re

p
o
rt

in
g
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
is

 m
e
c
h
a
n
is

m
 

c
a
n
 b

e
 d

o
n
e
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
fe

a
r 

o
f 
re

p
ri
s
a
l.
 

3
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 

a
n
d
 A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 r

a
is

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 w

it
h
 a

ll 
m

a
n

a
g
e

rs
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 M

e
m

b
e

rs
. 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
9

Page 30



The Audit Commission 
The Audit Commission is an independent watchdog, driving economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in local public services to deliver better outcomes for everyone. 

Our work across local government, health, housing, community safety and fire and rescue 
services means that we have a unique perspective. We promote value for money for 
taxpayers, auditing the £200 billion spent by 11,000 local public bodies.  

As a force for improvement, we work in partnership to assess local public services and 
make practical recommendations for promoting a better quality of life for local people. 

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0844 798 7070. 

© Audit Commission 2009 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 0844 798 1212  Fax: 0844 798 2945  Textphone (minicom): 0844 798 2946

www.audit-commission.gov.uk

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



Governance of 
Partnerships
Wirral Council

Audit 2008/09 

June 2009 

Agenda Item 4

Page 33



Status of our reports 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit 
Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors and of the audited body. 
Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to
non-executive directors/members or officers. They are prepared for the sole use of the 
audited body. Auditors accept no responsibility to: 

! any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or  

! any third party.

Contents

Introduction 3

Background 5

Audit approach 6

Main conclusions 7

Detailed report 9

Appendix 1 – Action Plan 15

Page 34



Introduction

3   Wirral Council 

Introduction
1 Partnership working is a key undertaking for all modern organisations. The Audit 

Commission publication 'Governing Partnership' asserts that strong corporate 
governance is needed to support partnerships effectively, and to create a clear and 
shared focus on users and on value for money.

2 It recommends that public bodies should: 

! know the partnerships they are involved in, and how much money and other 
resources they invest in them; 

! review each partnership to strengthen accountability, manage risks and rationalise 
working arrangements; 

! establish clear criteria against which partnerships can be evaluated to determine 
that they help to achieve partners' corporate objectives cost- effectively; 

! take hard decisions to scale down their involvement in partnerships if the costs 
outweigh the benefits, or if the added risks cannot be managed properly; 

! agree and regularly review protocols and governing documents with all partners; 
and

! tell service users and the wider public about how key partnerships work, where 
responsibility and accountability lie and how redress can be obtained through joint 
complaints procedures. 

3 There is no single definition of ‘partnership’. The word is often used loosely to describe 
a number of different types of groupings from a long term relationship with a supplier to 
a networking or knowledge sharing forum. It is also used more precisely to describe 
partnerships which are statutory, resulting from top down Government initiatives and 
others which are developed locally, perhaps to meet the requirements of, or to obtain 
access to Government funding streams.

4 In 'Governing Partnerships' the Audit Commission defines ‘partnerships’ as an 
agreement to work collectively between two or more independent bodies to achieve a 
common objective. This definition encompasses a wide range of collaborative 
arrangements, varying in size, service area, membership and function. They include 
voluntary and statutory partnerships, executive and non-executive partnerships, 
strategic service delivery partnerships, and strategic partnering for private sector 
procurement including Private Finance Initiative (PFI), Public Private Partnerships 
(PPP) and joint ventures. Some partnerships attract dedicated funding, others do not. 
Some are strategic, others operational in focus. Some are limited companies, others 
are charitable trusts, and still more are unincorporated associations.  

Page 35



Introduction

Wirral Council  4

5 Research shows that effective partnership working is very difficult, time consuming and 
during the outset, difficult to achieve. In particular, partnerships require more 
commitment and a higher level of time from senior managers than is needed for 
delivery through mainstream programmes. There is a risk that: 

! if this leadership is not provided, partnerships will not achieve their objectives, and 
partners will not accept responsibility; and 

! even where there is leadership, the results may take undue effort if accountability 
is unclear or systems ineffective.

6 There is no ‘one size fits all’ governance structure for partnerships. Governance 
arrangements in partnerships should be proportionate to the risks involved. The right 
balance needs to be struck between the need to protect the public pound and ensure 
value for money, with the innovation and flexibility that exists when organisations 
collaborate. The governance of partnerships should promote good internal 
accountability between partners and better external accountability to service users. 
Shared responsibility should not mean diminished accountability. 

7 The Government has established Local Area Agreements (LAAs) in local authority 
areas to encourage public, private and community and voluntary sector bodies to pool 
their efforts and financial resources in order to improve services and quality of life for 
local people. This initiative builds on the experience of partnership working that has 
developed over recent years, particularly through Local Strategic Partnerships. 

Page 36



Background 

5   Wirral Council 

Background
8 The Council is involved in a significant number of partnerships, often with the 

additional responsibilities of 'accountable body' status which brings added risks, raising 
the importance of strong governance further. Our Annual Audit and Inspection Letter 
2007/08 highlighted a number of areas where the Council works well with partners to 
deliver better outcomes for local people. 

9 Our previous review of partnerships during 2005 found there was scope to strengthen 
the Council’s corporate arrangements for establishing, monitoring and control of 
partnerships. An action plan was agreed in October 2006 to strengthen the Council's 
arrangements.

10 In previous audit years we have undertaken work relevant to partnership working; 
reviews of Social Services, Budgetary Control and Working in Partnership, and Health 
Improvement. These reviews have identified improvement opportunities and have 
been included within this review as a follow up of all our work with this area.

11 The Council and its partners negotiated and agreed Wirral's first LAA with Government 
Office in March 2006. This has recently been re-visited. In addition to a set of 
outcomes, indicators and targets, the agreement sets out plans to develop 
governance, financial management and performance management arrangements 
within the partnership. 

12 Following our previous audit, 'Probity in Partnerships', the Executive Board decided on 
4 October 2006 that the Head of Legal & Members Services within Corporate Services 
be appointed as the officer with overall responsibility for partnership issues. In 
September 2008, the new Director of Law, Human Resources and Asset Management 
took over this responsibility with the Head of Legal Services as the lead officer. 

Page 37



Audit approach 

Wirral Council  6

Audit approach 
13 Our review has considered whether the recommendations from our previous work 

have been implemented. Also, we have considered whether relevant aspects of the 
VFM Conclusion and Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs) within the Use of Resources 
(UoR) assessment for 2009 are likely to be satisfied. Where appropriate we have used 
supporting guidance contained in the Audit Commission report 'Governing 
Partnerships'.

14 As agreed in our Audit & Inspection Plan for 2007/08 we have undertaken a review of 
aspects of the Council's partnership working. This is to inform our UoR work which 
supports the VFM Conclusion. Our approach included using two current partnerships - 
Connexions and Integrated Community Equipment Services - as 'tracers' to review 
arrangements and a follow-up of governance and financial management issues 
previously identified across the LAA and in our previous work. 

15 Our work involved: 

! a review of a sample of existing partnerships;

! document reviews; and 

! interviews with key officers. 

Page 38



Main conclusions 

7   Wirral Council 

Main conclusions 
16 The Council generally works well with partners and there are some examples of 

positive outcomes noted in our previous reports. 

! Wirral Local Strategic Partnership demonstrates a number of key strengths. 

! Good use of partnerships to provide access to public services that are helping to 
improve the quality of life for local people and enables local people to access 
services at a single point of contact. 

! Some excellent work is being done by the Council and its partners around youth 
sport and leisure to promote positive attitudes and behaviour. 

! The Council and its partners have been successful in attracting and supporting 
new business in the borough, and strategic frameworks for driving economic 
regeneration and tackling worklessness are now in place. 

! Good progress has generally been made in reducing crime and anti-social 
behaviour.

! The Council and its partners are effective in balancing the borough’s housing 
market and responding to the needs of homeless people. 

! The Council and its partners have made good use of intelligence and adopted a 
robust and systematic approach to identify local priorities which is embedded in the 
sustainable community strategy formally adopted in March 2009. 

! Wirral Local Strategic Partnership has a good understanding of local cohesion 
issues.

! There is a genuine commitment to addressing health inequalities through 
partnership working, and good use is being made of available data to identify 
priorities for action. 

17 However, the Council needs to do further work to strengthen its corporate 
arrangements for governing partnerships. Action has been taken since we reported our 
previous work and since our fieldwork and the Council is making progress. Most 
importantly action is currently on-going to roll out the recently approved Partnership 
Toolkit. Internal Audit has also carried out work which maps the proposed 
arrangements within the toolkit against best practice and the toolkit has been updated 
to reflect this.  

18 At the time of our fieldwork, the Council's definition of a 'partnership' was not clear and 
roles and responsibilities with regard to the governance of partnerships still needed to 
be clarified. Officers expect this to be addressed by the implementation of the 
Partnership Toolkit.

19 A clear corporate picture of the partnerships the Council is involved in and how much 
money and other resources it invests in them is being developed but was not available 
at the time of our fieldwork. Some partnerships are being reviewed to strengthen 
accountability, manage risks and rationalise working arrangements but this is not 
consistent across the Council. 

Page 39



Main conclusions 

Wirral Council  8

20 With the exception of the LAA, our review found limited evidence of monitoring and 
evaluation of the contribution of partnerships to the achievement of the Council's and 
partners' objectives and value for money. Information is currently not sufficient for 
robust decision making and reporting to members.

21 A basic corporate framework with integrated supporting arrangements still needs to be 
established and launched effectively throughout the Council, with partners, service 
users and the wider public. A Partnership Risk Management Toolkit has been 
established. This is based on a proprietary package purchased externally and tailored 
to Wirral's circumstances. 

22 There are also continuing significant capacity issues which have delayed action to 
improve the framework and maintain existing systems which could cause further 
delays if not addressed promptly. 

Page 40



Detailed report 

9   Wirral Council 

Detailed report 

Corporate framework 

23 The Council still needs to strengthen the corporate arrangements for the governance 
of partnerships. The definition of a partnership is not clear, and, roles and 
responsibilities need to be clarified. The Council does not have a clear corporate 
picture of the partnerships it is involved in and how much money and other resources it 
invests in them. Some partnerships have been reviewed to strengthen accountability, 
manage risks and rationalise working arrangements but this is not consistent across 
the Council. The review found limited evidence of monitoring and evaluation of whether 
partnerships continue to achieve the Council's and partners' objectives and value for 
money and information is currently not sufficient for robust decision making and 
reporting to members. A basic corporate framework with integrated supporting 
arrangements still needs to be established.  

24 Since our previous work in 2005 the Council has established a list containing details of 
its current partnerships. The Partnership Index was created in 2007 but only lists basic 
details such as organisation name, internal contact, external contact, address or 
comments. The Index is not routinely kept up to date although it is supported by a 
questionnaire for each partnership completed by the lead officer within departments or 
details obtained direct from the partnership. There is no process to routinely keep the 
Index and questionnaires up to date nor to determine whether new partnerships have 
been established. The Index and questionnaires are only held in hardcopy form, hence 
information is not readily available and on-going maintenance and access to data is 
made more difficult than if held electronically.

25 The Partnership Index is supported by a further document entitled the Partnership 
Analysis. This list holds details of complexity, governance risks, finance, impact of 
failure, and overall assessment of risk. The Partnership Analysis is still a working 
document and not yet complete. For instance there are no details recorded to show 
what action is being taken to mitigate risk. Also, there is no supporting guidance on 
criteria and scoring to ensure standards are adequate and help to provide consistency. 
Hence, the current risk assessments are subjective.

26 The risk associated with partnerships is included in the Council's corporate risk 
register. The Deputy Chief Executive is recorded as the responsible officer. This is not 
consistent with the decision of the Executive Board to appoint the Head of Legal & 
Members Services as the officer with overall responsibility for partnership issues, as 
stated above. An action plan is in place to address the corporate risk associated with 
partnerships, with the Head of Legal Services responsible for most actions. Timescales 
in the action plan are recorded as on-going (rather than showing an agreed completion 
date) or have not been met.

Page 41



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  10

27 Since our last review a Partnership Risk Management Toolkit has been established. 
This is based on a proprietary package purchased externally and tailored to Wirral's 
circumstances. The Toolkit was placed on the intranet around 18 months ago with 
details included in the ‘News Bulletin’. However, there was no proactive action to 
launch or support the toolkit, such as targeted training for officers and members. Also, 
the toolkit does not support the Partnership Analysis. 

28 Senior officers in the Law, HR and Asset Management Directorate fully recognise the 
need for more work to develop the Council's arrangements for governance of 
partnerships and acknowledge that progress has been slow due to lack of capacity, an 
issue that is also having an adverse impact on the maintenance of existing systems.  

29 Action is being taken to develop the partnership arrangements further and we are 
awaiting details of the new Partnership Toolkit. As part of this work the Council is 
looking at other councils' arrangements with a view to identifying good practice which 
can be tailored to Wirral's circumstances. Once the arrangements have been agreed 
they will be placed on the Council's intranet site to provide easy access and enable 
easy updating. Internal Audit has also carried out work which maps the proposed 
arrangements within the toolkit against best practice and the toolkit is being updated to 
reflect this. 

30 Following our previous review, the Executive Board decided on 4 October 2006, that 
periodic checks be carried out to ensure partnerships comply with the Council's 
governance requirements, including standing orders, ethical framework, declarations of 
interest etc. To date these compliance checks have not been routinely undertaken. 
The intention is to undertake these checks as part of an annual review of the 
partnership register once the Partnership Toolkit is implemented. 

Page 42



Detailed report 

11   Wirral Council 

Recommendations

R1 Establish a Corporate Framework for governing partnerships, including the 
following.

!  Roles and responsibilities of corporate and service based officers and 
councillors.

!  Establishing effective links between Council departments particularly the Legal 
Department (governance), Finance Department (risk and financial accounting) 
and Corporate Services (corporate policy).  

!  Establishing effective links between the Partnership Toolkit and the Partnership 
Risk Management Toolkit as well as the Council's overall governance and risk 
management arrangements, such as the risk register and standing orders. 

!  Policy and guidance for relevant officers, including those in service departments. 

!  Developing clear criteria against which partnerships can be evaluated to 
determine that they help to achieve the Council's and partners' corporate 
objectives cost effectively.

!  Review and challenge of partnerships to ensure value for money is achieved 
and risks are manageable. 

!  Developing appropriate reporting processes, including reporting to members, 
partners, service users and the wider public. 

!  Ensuring the current Internal Audit work is completed on a timely basis and 
includes mapping the proposed implementation of a partnership toolkit against 
good practice. 

R2 Launch the Corporate Framework with relevant training and support for officers and 
members and ensure all stakeholders are aware of where responsibility and 
accountability lie. 

R3 Create a partnership database to ensure the following are satisfied. 

!  Completeness of details of existing partnerships. 

!  Accurate and up to date records including review of protocols and governing 
documents with partners. 

!  All relevant information captured, in compliance with good practice. 

!  Facility to enable drill down to supporting records, including risk assessment and 
accounting treatment. 

Roles and responsibilities 

31 Roles and responsibilities for partnerships and the governance of those partnerships 
are not clear and need to be re-assessed. There are also continuing significant 
capacity issues which have delayed action to improve the corporate arrangements and 
maintain existing systems which could cause further delays if not addressed promptly. 

Page 43



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  12

32 Following our previous review, the Executive Board nominated the Head of Legal & 
Members Services within Corporate Services as the officer with overall responsibility 
for partnership issues. In October 2006, the Executive Board also approved an action 
plan and subsequently agreed in principle to the creation of additional resources. 
However, these resources were not obtained and capacity issues have continued. In 
particular, the Head of Legal and Member Services left the Council in 2007 and 
although there were interim arrangements to cover the post, there were no additional 
resources until recently.

33 In September 2008, the corporate centre was reorganised and a new Director of Law, 
Human Resources and Asset Management was appointed. The Head of Legal 
Services transferred from Corporate Services to the new directorate, taking the 
responsibility for governance of partnerships with him.

34 The Council should consider whether the roles and responsibilities assigned by the 
previous Executive Board remain fit for purpose. There should be clear leadership for 
governance of partnerships within the Corporate Team, in conjunction with support 
from key officers within corporate policy services, finance and legal. Partnerships must 
help to achieve the Council's and partners' corporate priorities and ensure value for 
money, and it is vital that clear roles and responsibilities for corporate and service 
officers and clear leadership are established within the new framework. 

35 All corporate work related to governance of partnerships is channelled through the 
Head of Legal Services and other departments rely on Legal Services to take 
responsibility for governance of partnerships. This is despite Partnership Guidance and 
a Checklist being issued to all Chief Officers in December 2006. This included a series 
of self-assessment questions, including governance. The guidance was not 
comprehensive or supported by targeted training for officers or members and 
compliance with the guidance has not been reviewed and refreshed.

36 Legal Services are aware of the need for better awareness and guidance so that there 
is less reliance on them by lead officers. However, resources and capacity to address 
this work have not been sufficient which has resulted in delay. It was planned to have a 
partnership toolkit and updated register in place by the end of October 2008 but this 
was not completed. A revised target date of 9 February 2009 was planned for 
presenting proposals to the Council but was not achieved. Revised timescales are now 
being agreed.

37 The Head of Legal Services and other senior members of the team involved in 
partnerships will shortly be leaving the Council and it is important to ensure that there 
is sufficient capacity and continuity going forward to avoid a repeat of the previous 
delay.

Page 44



Detailed report 

13   Wirral Council 

Recommendation

R4 Review the adequacy of the capacity to establish and take forward robust corporate 
arrangements and provide subsequent maintenance and support once established. 

R5 Review whether the roles and responsibilities assigned by the previous Executive 
Board remain fit for purpose and establish clear corporate leadership. 

Local Area Agreement (LAA) 

38 The Council's most significant partnership is in connection with the LAA. The Council 
has recognised the need to review the governance arrangements for the LAA. At the 
LAA Programme Board in June 2008, the Head of Policy and Performance and the 
Head of Legal Services were asked to undertake the review and this is now in 
progress.

39 Training has been carried out for partnership risk management associated with the 
LAA. This included partnership and governance fundamentals, and the role of risk 
management in good governance. 

Recommendation

R6 Ensure the review of the governance arrangements for the LAA is completed in line 
with the requirements of the LAA Programme Board in June 2008. 

Service department arrangements 

40 As part of the review we chose two current partnerships for testing the arrangements 
for governance of partnerships - Connexions and the Integrated Community 
Equipment Service (ICES). We also followed up three previous Audit Commission 
Reports that required working with partners: Probity in Partnerships; Social Services 
Budgetary Control; and Working in Partnership - Health Improvement. 

41 The partnership arrangements regarding Connexions were rolled over in April 2008 
pending implementation of new arrangements from September 2009. A specification 
for service delivery based on a commissioning model is currently being drafted. The 
Lead Officer is placing reliance on Legal Department to ensure governance 
arrangements are satisfactory.  

42 The Lead Officer for Connexions is involved in the departmental risk assessment 
exercise but was not consulted on the specific assessment of risk associated with 
Connexions. Proposed changes to current arrangements could increase risk due to the 
new model for service delivery.  

43 The governance arrangements for the Integrated Community Equipment Service 
(ICES) partnership are historic. These arrangements were not fully reviewed when a 

Page 45



Detailed report 

Wirral Council  14

two year rollover from 1 April 2007 was agreed by Cabinet. This was to allow time for 
an alternative service delivery model to be assessed as part of a ‘retail market model’ 
pilot exercise. As with Connexions the Lead Officer is placing reliance on the Legal 
Department to ensure governance is satisfactory. The Lead Officer for ICES is not 
consulted on the specific assessment of risk associated with the ICES. 

44 The role for follow-up of audit recommendations is now assigned to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee which was formed in June 2006. Governance is also 
monitored by the Corporate Governance Monitoring Group which was set up in 2005. 
This framework for follow-up has not been used consistently for formally tracking 
progress on issues raised and for ensuring that all recommendations are considered 
together at a corporate level. 

45 Our request for updated action plans and dates of presentation to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee were difficult for the Council to respond to. Departments 
could not provide a timely response for the Probity in Partnerships and Social Services 
Budgetary Control reports, and we have not yet received an update for all 
recommendations arising from the 'Working in Partnership, Health Improvements' 
audit. This demonstrates that there is no effective procedure to ensure members are 
routinely advised of progress on a consistent basis. 

Recommendation

R7 Ensure lead officers are clear about their responsibility for the risk assessment of 
partnerships for which they are accountable, taking advice from colleagues where 
appropriate.

R8 Establish a tracking system to monitor the implementation of audit and other review 
agency recommendations and ensure all action plans are routinely monitored at 
corporate level and by members. 

Page 46



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 1
 –

 A
c
ti

o
n

 P
la

n
 

1
5
 
  

W
ir
ra

l 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 1

 –
 A

c
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 

P
a
g

e
n

o
.

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
1

 =
 L

o
w

 
2

 =
 M

e
d

 
3

 =
 H

ig
h

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
 

A
g

re
e

d
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 

D
a

te
 

1
1

R
1
 

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

 C
o

rp
o
ra

te
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 f
o

r 
g
o

v
e

rn
in

g
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
. 

!
R

o
le

s
 a

n
d

 r
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
 o

f 
c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 b
a

s
e
d

 
o
ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n
d
 c

o
u
n
c
ill

o
rs

. 

!
E

s
ta

b
lis

h
in

g
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 l
in

k
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 t
h
e
 L

e
g
a
l 
D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 
(g

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
),

 F
in

a
n
c
e
 

D
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
(r

is
k
 a

n
d

 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
a
c
c
o

u
n

ti
n
g

) 
a

n
d

 C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 p

o
lic

y
).

  

!
E

s
ta

b
lis

h
in

g
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 l
in

k
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 t
h
e
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 T
o
o
lk

it
 a

n
d
 

th
e
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 R
is

k
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
T

o
o
lk

it
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o

u
n

c
il'

s
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
g

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

 a
n
d

 r
is

k
 m

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t 

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

, 
s
u
c
h

 a
s
 t
h

e
 r

is
k
 r

e
g

is
te

r 
a

n
d

 s
ta

n
d

in
g
 o

rd
e
rs

. 

!
P

o
lic

y
 a

n
d
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 

re
le

v
a
n
t 
o
ff
ic

e
rs

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
o
s
e
 i
n
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

. 

!
D

e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 c

le
a
r 

c
ri
te

ri
a

 a
g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 c

a
n
 b

e
 

e
v
a
lu

a
te

d
 t
o
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
y
 h

e
lp

 t
o

 a
c
h

ie
v
e

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 

a
n

d
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

' c
o

rp
o
ra

te
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e

s
 c

o
s
t 
e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

ly
. 

!
R

e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 c

h
a
lle

n
g
e
 o

f 
p
a

rt
n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 v
a
lu

e
 f
o
r 

m
o

n
e

y
 i
s
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
 a

n
d

 r
is

k
s
 a

re
 m

a
n

a
g

e
a

b
le

. 

!
D

e
v
e

lo
p

in
g

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a

te
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
e

s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g

 
to

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

, 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

, 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

rs
 a

n
d
 t
h

e
 w

id
e

r 
p
u
b

lic
. 

!
E

n
s
u
ri
n

g
 t
h

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A

u
d

it
 w

o
rk

 i
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 o
n

 a
 

ti
m

e
ly

 b
a

s
is

 a
n

d
 i
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 m

a
p

p
in

g
 t
h

e
 p

ro
p
o

s
e

d
 

im
p
le

m
e
n

ta
ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 t
o
o
lk

it
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
g
o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
. 

3
H

e
a
d

 o
f 
L
e
g
a
l 

a
n

d
 M

e
m

b
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 T
o

o
lk

it
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 

b
y
 C

a
b
in

e
t 
in

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

N
o

v
e

m
b
e

r 
2

0
0

9

Page 47



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 1
 –

 A
c
ti

o
n

 P
la

n
 

W
ir
ra

l 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

 
1
6

P
a
g

e
n

o
.

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
1

 =
 L

o
w

 
2

 =
 M

e
d

 
3

 =
 H

ig
h

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
 

A
g

re
e

d
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 

D
a

te
 

1
1

R
2
 

L
a

u
n
c
h

 t
h

e
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 
tr

a
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n

d
 m

e
m

b
e

rs
 a

n
d

 e
n
s
u

re
 a

ll 
s
ta

k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

 a
re

 
a
w

a
re

 o
f 
w

h
e
re

 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ty

 a
n
d
 a

c
c
o
u
n

ta
b
ili

ty
 l
ie

. 

3
H

e
a
d

 o
f 
L
e
g
a
l 

a
n

d
 M

e
m

b
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

N
e
e
d

 t
o
 p

u
b
lic

is
e
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
T

o
o
lk

it
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
d
 b

y
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

in
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

N
o

v
e

m
b
e

r 
2

0
0

9

1
1

R
3
 

C
re

a
te

 a
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 d

a
ta

b
a

s
e

 t
o

 e
n
s
u
re

 t
h

e
 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 a
re

 
s
a

ti
s
fi
e
d

. 

!
C

o
m

p
le

te
n
e
s
s
 o

f 
d
e
ta

ils
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
. 

!
A

c
c
u
ra

te
 a

n
d
 u

p
 t
o

 d
a

te
 r

e
c
o

rd
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
p
ro

to
c
o

ls
 

a
n

d
 g

o
v
e
rn

in
g

 d
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 w
it
h

 p
a

rt
n
e

rs
. 

!
A

ll 
re

le
v
a
n
t 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 c

a
p
tu

re
d
, 
in

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 g

o
o
d
 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e

. 

!
F

a
c
ili

ty
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 d
ri
ll 

d
o

w
n
 t
o
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

in
g

 r
e
c
o
rd

s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 r

is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 a
c
c
o

u
n

ti
n

g
 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t.
 

2
H

e
a
d

 o
f 
L
e
g
a
l 

a
n

d
 M

e
m

b
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

In
c
lu

d
e

d
 i
n

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 
T

o
o
lk

it
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
d
 b

y
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

in
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
9

1
3

R
4
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 t
h
e
 a

d
e
q
u
a
c
y
 o

f 
th

e
 c

a
p
a

c
it
y
 t
o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

n
d
 t
a
k
e
 

fo
rw

a
rd

 r
o

b
u
s
t 
c
o

rp
o
ra

te
 a

rr
a

n
g
e

m
e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 p
ro

v
id

e
 s

u
b

s
e
q

u
e
n

t 
m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 o
n

c
e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
. 

3
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 a

n
d

 A
s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

N
o

v
e

m
b
e

r 
2

0
0

9

1
3

R
5
 

R
e

v
ie

w
 w

h
e

th
e

r 
th

e
 r

o
le

s
 a

n
d

 r
e
s
p
o

n
s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
 a

s
s
ig

n
e

d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

 r
e
m

a
in

 f
it
 f
o
r 

p
u
rp

o
s
e
 a

n
d
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 

c
le

a
r 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 l
e

a
d

e
rs

h
ip

. 

2
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
L

a
w

, 
H

R
 a

n
d

 A
s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 

Y
e
s
 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 
2

0
1

0

1
3

R
6
 

E
n

s
u
re

 t
h

e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 g

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n

ts
 f
o
r 

th
e
 L

A
A

 
is

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 i
n

 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 L

A
A

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

B
o

a
rd

 i
n

 J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
8

. 

2
D

e
p
u
ty

 C
h
ie

f 
E

x
e
c
 a

n
d
 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

 r
e
v
ie

w
 

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 a

n
d

 n
e

w
 s

tr
u
c
tu

re
 

p
u
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 i
n
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

A
p

ri
l 
2

0
0
9

 

1
4

R
7
 

E
n
s
u
re

 l
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
re

 c
le

a
r 

a
b
o
u
t 
th

e
ir
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ty

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

ri
s
k
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 f

o
r 

w
h
ic

h
 t
h
e
y
 a

re
 a

c
c
o
u
n

ta
b
le

, 
ta

k
in

g
 a

d
v
ic

e
 f
ro

m
 c

o
lle

a
g
u
e

s
 w

h
e

re
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

. 

2
H

e
a
d

 o
f 
L
e
g
a
l 

a
n

d
 M

e
m

b
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

N
e
e
d

 t
o
 p

u
b
lic

is
e
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
T

o
o
lk

it
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
d
 b

y
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

in
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 
2

0
1

0

1
4

R
8
 

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

 t
ra

c
k
in

g
 s

y
s
te

m
 t
o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

th
e
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
a

u
d

it
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

re
v
ie

w
 a

g
e
n

c
y
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 a

n
d

 e
n

s
u

re
 a

ll 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
s
 a

re
 r

o
u
ti
n
e
ly

 m
o
n
it
o

re
d
 a

t 
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 l
e
v
e

l 
a
n
d
 b

y
 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

.

2
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o

f 
F

in
a

n
c
e

 
Y

e
s
 

Im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 f
o
r 

a
ll 

A
u
d
it
 

c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
. 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 
2

0
1

0

Page 48



The Audit Commission 
The Audit Commission is an independent watchdog, driving economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in local public services to deliver better outcomes for everyone. 

Our work across local government, health, housing, community safety and fire and 
rescue services means that we have a unique perspective. We promote value for 
money for taxpayers, auditing the £200 billion spent by 11,000 local public bodies.

As a force for improvement, we work in partnership to assess local public services 
and make practical recommendations for promoting a better quality of life for local 
people.

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0844 798 7070. 

© Audit Commission 2009 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 0844 798 1212  Fax: 0844 798 2945 Textphone (minicom): 0844 798 2946

www.audit-commission.gov.uk

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE - 30 JUNE 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW, HR AND ASSET MANAGEMENT 
 
OMBUDSMAN REPORT - REPORT NO 07/C/03447 
 

 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
 This report outlines action taken since this matter was last before the 

Standards Committee on 30 June 2008. The Ombudsman had made a finding 
of maladministration and injustice against the Council regarding Mr H and his 
child S. The Committee had authorised the then Acting Monitoring Officer to 
respond to the Ombudsman stating that the Council would implement the 
recommendations contained in the Ombudsman’s Report. 

 
2.0. Background 
 
2.1 The recommendations in the Ombudsman’s report were that the Council 

should: 
 

• Accept that it has no justifications for its claim not ob responsible for S 

• Discuss and agree with the school and S’s parents whether there is any 
additional provision that could be made to help S “ catch up” on the 
year’s schooling that he has missed; 

• Reserve a sum of money equivalent to the cost of educating S at the 
school for a year in a fund until he has completed year 11 and then 
deploy the fund on any additional educational provision that the school 
and an educational psychologist recommend as being beneficial; 

• Pay £1000 to Mr H in recognition of the anxiety, stress, time and trouble 
caused to him; and 

• Make a payment of £655 to Mr H to reimburse what he paid for private 
tutoring for S during 2007. 

 
2.2 The Council has implemented all these recommendations and the child S is 

making  progress at the school. The Ombudsman and the Deputy Ombudsman  
had visited the Council on 17 March 2009 and met with the Chief Executive, the 
Director of Law, HR and Asset Management and the Director of Children’s 
Services. The Ombudsman had expressed concerns about not having had 
sight of the previous report to Standards Committee before it went into the 
public domain and discussions took place on 17 March 2009 concerning the 
findings in the Ombudsman’s Report and that the focus in the matter should be 
on the welfare of the child S. 

 
2.3 The Interim Head of Legal and Member Services reviewed the matter in April 

2009 and a copy to the Ombudsman of her letter dated 17 April 2009 is 
attached to this report as Appendix 1. The Ombudsman has indicated verbally   
that once the Standards Committee has had sight of the latest correspondence 
between the Council and the Ombudsman  and that the Committee is informed  
in connection with the progress made by child S, that the Ombudsman is likely 
to consider that all outstanding issues have been resolved. It is intended that a 

Agenda Item 5

Page 51



separate report will be brought before the Standards Committee concerning the 
role of the Standards Committee in connection with specific complaints to the  
Ombudsman. 

 
3. Financial and Staffing Implications 
 

These are set out in paragraphs 2.1of this report. 
 
4. Equal Opportunities Implications 
 

S has special education needs. The Council has a statutory responsibility to 
assess the needs of children that reside within its area to assess any special 
educational needs and arrange provision to meet those needs. 

 
5. Human Rights Implications 
 

The names of the complainant, the children and other adults mentioned in the 
report are pseudonyms as under the Local Government Act 1974, the 
Ombudsman shall not use the real names of people in the report nor publish 
information likely to identify them and the family’s right to privacy is respected. 
There has been widespread media reporting of the Ombudsman’s findings but 
the family have not been identified. 

 
6. Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 

None 
 
7. Community Safety Implications 
 

None 
 
8. Planning Implications 
 

None 
 
9. Anti-poverty implications 
 
9.1 None 
 
10.  Local Member Support Implications 
 

None 
 
11. Social Inclusion implications 
 

Authorities need to have regard to guidance on the statutory framework for 
inclusion of children with special educational needs in mainstream schools  
 

12. Background Papers 
 
12.1 The Ombudsman’s report was used in preparing this report  

Page 52



 
13. Recommendation 
   
13.1 That the Committee note that the Council has implemented the 

recommendations made in the Ombudsman’s Report issued on 10 April 2008, 
having accepted the findings of the Ombudsman  and also note the progress 
being made by child S at the school.  

 
 
 
Bill Norman 
Director of Law, HR and Asset Management 

Page 53



 

Department of Law, HR and 
Asset Management 

Bill Norman 

Director of Law, HR and  
Asset Management 

Town Hall, Brighton Street 
Wallasey, Wirral 
Merseyside, CH44 8ED 

DX 708630 Seacombe 

 
 

to Anne Seex, 
Local Government Ombudsman, 
Beverley House, 
17 Shipton Road, 
York 
YO30 5FZ 

date 17 April 2009 

your ref 07/C/03447/AS/CRB 
my ref RAL 

service Legal 

tel 0151-691 8569  Please ask for Rosemary Lyon  _ 
fax 0151-691 8482 

email rosemarylyon@wirral.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear  Ms Seex, 
 
 
COMPLAINT BY MR H 
 
 
I refer to your meeting at the Council on 17 March 2009 in connection with the 
above matter. I have recently joined the Council as Interim Head of Legal and 
Member Services and have reviewed the matter at the request of the Director of 
Law, HR and Asset Management. I have a background in education law, having 
previously acted as the principal legal adviser on education matters at a unitary 
authority. 
 
The Council was under a statutory duty to secure the provision specified in the 
SENDIST order and focus on the welfare and educational needs of S. Having 
considered the relevant case law which you helpfully supplied with your letter of 23 
April 2008. I agree that a local authority may only challenge an Ombudsman’s 
findings by Judicial Review and confirm that the Council accepts the findings in your 
Report dated 10 April 2008. There were procedural steps which the Council could  
have taken to clarify issues of funding between Flintshire and Wirral. I also confirm  
that the Council has implemented fully the recommendations in your report.  
 
 
I refer to the Report, which was considered by the Standards Committee on 30 
June 2008. The Council agrees that the Report should have been shared with 
yourself, before being put into the public domain. Consideration is also to be given 
as to whether the Standards Committee is the appropriate committee to receive 
reports on the outcome of complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman. 
 

Page 54



 
 
 
 
I hope that this letter resolves all outstanding issues and that you do not consider it 
will be necessary to issue a further report. 
 
 

 Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
Rosemary Lyon 
Interim Head of Legal and Member Services  

 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 Ethical Governance 2008/09
	4 Governance of Partnerships
	5 Ombudsman Report-Report No 07/C/03447

